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To my sister, Allison; my father, Edward Fulton; and mother, Terry; great-grandfather John Frank and great-grandmother Margaret Galena Oldfield; everyone within the Oldfield and Iacone families who never gave up on our family secret, and especially to those within the United States Postal Inspection Service who risk their lives every day for all of us.

—William H. Oldfield



PROLOGUE


On the night of April 18, 1908, in the railroad town of Bellefontaine, Ohio, eighteen-year-old Charles Demar walked into the fruit shop he owned with his uncle, Salvatore Cira, and put a bullet into his uncle’s head. Salvatore’s body was discovered later that night by his wife among crates of bananas and apples spattered with his blood. When the police arrived, Mrs. Cira appeared not to understand them, or at least she pretended she didn’t speak English. This wasn’t surprising, as the police commonly ran into this problem with Italian immigrants who wanted nothing to do with law enforcement on any level. The most preyed-upon victims were completely unwilling to give police any leads, even if they’d personally seen a suspect commit a crime against a loved one.

It’s not that the Bellefontaine police lacked investigative skills. No law enforcement institution in the nation had been able to penetrate the crime-ridden neighborhoods across America that absorbed six million Italian immigrants in the last two decades of the 1800s. Increasingly in the papers, the gruesome crimes were credited to “Black Hand” criminals because of several recovered threat letters eerily penned by “La Mano Nera.” Only after massive criminal activity in New York City’s Lower East Side began to bleed into surrounding neighborhoods did the NYPD form a group of five Italian-American police detectives. The “Italian Squad,” under renowned detective Joe Petrosino, was having some luck by 1908 and making arrests for individual crimes, especially bombing incidents.

The Bellefontaine cops searched the premises of Demar’s Fruit Importers and collected as much evidence as they could. There was no sign of forced entry, and they found cash in a drawer untouched. What they did find on Cira’s body tipped them off to the idea that the murder was more sinister than a random killing. In the dead man’s pants pocket, there were two letters written in Italian. Knowing they had no chance of getting anywhere by interviewing friends or relatives of Cira, the cops were hopeful that the letters would lead to a break in the case. They also knew that their work was done, because the letters put the murder squarely under the jurisdiction of the United States Post Office Department and its prominent inspectors.

The Bellefontaine Police brought the letters in a secure pouch to the U.S. Post Office in Columbus. The enormous four-story federal building on Third and State Streets was the closest post office to Bellefontaine where a Post Office inspector was domiciled. There they found Inspector no. 156, Frank Oldfield, a diminutive man in a well-fitting suit, chomping away on a cigar. Oldfield pushed some papers and files aside and opened the letters. He made a quick visual scan of the documents with his magnifying glass. A satisfied smile appeared on his face.

Since arriving in Columbus in 1901, the forty-one-year-old Oldfield had become one of the most aggressive and successful Post Office inspectors in the service. He’d run down safecrackers, exposed a corruption ring between a U.S. congressman and the New York City assistant district attorney, and busted crooks on the railroads for robbing the mail. But there was nothing Oldfield wanted more than to “run to earth” what he believed was an international organized crime ring spanning America all the way to Palermo, Sicily: truly bad guys whose members called themselves The Black Hand Society.

Few people knew that U.S. Post Office inspectors were the country’s most powerful federal law enforcers at the time. Long before the FBI came into being, U.S. Post Office inspectors had jurisdiction all over the world. The presidentially appointed position gave a Post Office inspector authority to take over an investigation from any law enforcement agency in the country if the United States mails were used in any fashion. He could bust a crime ring anywhere on earth if one of the suspects so much as licked a U.S. postage stamp and sent a letter or package through the mail. Inspectors moved about on the railways where every train had a postal car, hopping on anywhere at a moment’s notice and flashing a silver badge in lieu of fare. They went with a vengeance after train robbers who grabbed pouches of cash and valuables in transit across the country, even on ships across the ocean. Inspectors had the legal authority to commandeer any vehicle they needed: a horse and buggy, a train—even a steamer ship—if it meant catching a crook. They dressed in plain clothes, carried concealed weapons, and worked mostly under the radar, using secret coded telegrams to update headquarters along the way. But with all their incredible crime busts, not one Post Office inspector had yet had a single break into the crimes of the Black Hand Society.



CHAPTER 1



THE PRINTER

The Printer of this Paper, with great Pleasure, acquaints the Public, that his Proposal for Establishing an American Post Office, on constitutional Principle, hath been warmly and generously patronized by the Friends of Freedom in all the great Commercial Towns in the Eastern Colonies, where ample Funds are already secured, Postmasters and Riders engaged, and, indeed, every necessary Arrangement made for the Reception of the Southern mails, which, it is expected, will soon be extended thither.

As therefore the final success of the Undertaking now depends on the Public Spirit of the Inhabitants of Maryland and Virginia, it is not doubted, from the recent Evidence they have given of their Noble Zeal in the Cause of liberty and their Country, but they will cheerfully join the rescuing the Channel of public and private Intelligence from the horrid Fangs of Ministerial Dependents; a Measure indispensably necessary in the present alarming Crisis of American Main.1

—William Goddard, publisher of the Pennsylvania Chronicle, 1775

At the turn of the twentieth century, during Frank Oldfield’s tenure as a Post Office inspector, there was no more vital institution in America than the United States Post Office Department. Post offices were the country’s brain centers; the postal routes its circulatory system. Radio was still in its infancy. Police stations had telephones, but few citizens had telephones in their homes. Vital correspondence, news of the day, and all manner of goods were delivered through a complicated but fluid network by thousands of postal workers. The job of a U.S. Post Office inspector was to make sure people and businesses received their mail without obstruction. Inspectors were also empowered to stop any crime that made use of the postal service. It was not just a law enforcement job, but an appointment to an elite force charged with the smooth and safe operation of the country.

The origins and importance of the United States Post Office date back to the American Revolution. The first mail system independent from England was called the Constitutional Post. It was specifically developed and designed to carry out treason against oppressive rulers across the Atlantic and suture together fiercely independent colonies into one cohesive nation. The postal network was something so vast and complicated that it would normally have taken years of toiling over by councils of subversive strategists to implement. But in the decade leading up to the Revolution, only one man was the driving force behind a post free from British control. That man was William Goddard, a printer, a newspaperman, and a revolutionary desperate to unhinge the new world from the old.

The seed for Goddard’s ingenious plan took hold during the summer of 1755 when he was a fifteen-year-old teenager living with his family in New London, Connecticut.2 Goddard’s mother, an educated woman named Sarah Updike, got him a job at the print shop in nearby New Haven run by the famous printer James Parker, once an apprentice and now a close colleague of Ben Franklin. Sarah was hoping her son would learn a trade, because his father, Giles, was not going to be around for long. In his fifties, Giles, a physician, was already bedridden with gout, among other ailments of an excessive lifestyle common to wealthy New Englanders. Obese and in chronic pain, he was confined to bed as uric acid built up in his swelling feet.

The young Goddard arrived in New Haven, a somewhat odd, overeducated teenager for the seaport town. Parker, his new boss, was also New Haven’s postmaster. Local printers commonly were chosen by the British government to be the postmasters of cities and towns. It made sense. The printers sold all kinds of official legal forms and papers. What apparently didn’t concern the Crown was something that it would live to regret in spades: the town printers were often the newspapermen as well. And newspapermen were highly educated and often became very interested in freeing the colonies from oppressive taxation and British rule. Across the colonies, rumblings of revolution began to brew with the setting of type in darkened print shops.

The British had completely missed this, because ever since the Queen Anne Act of 1710, they had been desperately trying to get a functioning post in the colonies that would earn them some revenue. By 1737, when Benjamin Franklin took over the Philadelphia Post Office, the entire system was a mess. The British service operated with heavy losses due to theft and mismanagement. As he did with most challenges, Franklin looked pragmatically at how to fix it. He hired better post riders. He added mile markers, or mile stones, for postage calculating (rather than just having riders mark trees with an axe).3 He was so successful that sixteen years later, on August 10, 1753, the British gave Franklin the job of joint postmaster general of the colonies along with William Hunter, the postmaster of Williamsburg, Virginia. Franklin was in charge of the northern post, and Hunter, everything south of Annapolis, Maryland.

In his new position, Franklin was now responsible for making certain that revenue didn’t slip into the pockets of wayward employees or thieves. Franklin set up a way to audit accounts and improve accounting methods. He established new post offices all the way to Quebec, Canada. He also went around investigating the very service he was appointed to preside over by “regulating the several post offices and bringing the postmasters to account.”4 Under Franklin the British Post in the American colonies thrived and turned a profit for the Crown the very first year he was in charge. He continued to hold the position, even as he left for England in 1757 to represent the Pennsylvania colonists against the Penn family’s unfair royal exemption from paying taxes to the colony or following laws enacted by the colonial legislature.5

Franklin was two years into his appointment as postmaster general when William Goddard arrived in the New Haven print shop. The work Goddard was charged with at Parker’s press was definitely not intellectual, and probably boring for the kid with big aspirations. But the press was clean, efficient, and state-of-the-art, thanks to the new equipment Ben Franklin leased to James Parker in a sort of franchise arrangement that Franklin had with several colonial printers. Parker was a trusted businessman in New Haven and especially appreciated by the townspeople for producing the Connecticut Gazette.

The Gazette was Connecticut’s first newspaper, a daily flyer that mostly printed ads, letters to the editor, and short news items on the back page. Parker also had a contract for all the printing for Yale University, mostly mysterious Latin texts that were probably less exciting to Goddard than what the newspaper held. The Gazette went out to everyone in town who paid a small subscription fee, and it entertained citizens for hours every day. Even those who were likely illiterate enjoyed listening to others read the long columns from top to bottom. Goddard instantly saw the power of the Gazette. It was communicating to the masses. It also gave James Parker power and prestige.

The front of Parker’s shop was configured to be the town post office. Mail clerks worked the front desk, and postal carriers took the mail to destinations where receivers had the responsibility to pay for the postage. Goddard cleaned up the print shop and the post office, inked the printing forms with ink balls, and sometimes delivered the Gazette. Occasionally, Parker sent Goddard out on postal errands. “At just 15,” Goddard wrote, “I was sent with a Rider from New-Haven to Middletown & Hartford, thence to N. London, and round by Seaboard to N. H. to estimate the Expense [to calculate postage for the mail]. Later on, in 1758, I went to N. York & Woodbridge to assist in the [post] offices there.”6 The routes traveled and the post offices visited on those trips were master classes to Goddard. He made a mental note to remember it all for future endeavors.

William’s mother was an excellent keeper of the family’s significant finances. When her husband, Giles Goddard, died, and William finished his apprenticeship in the New Haven shop, Sarah Goddard financed her son’s own printing business in Providence, Rhode Island. It was 1762. The twenty-three-year-old Goddard rented a storefront on Benefit Street. He put up signs in the two windows facing the street advertising “All sorts of Blanks used in this Colony, neatly printed,” and such commercial documents as “Policies of Insurance, Portage Bills, Bills of Lading and Sale, Letters of Attorney, Administration Bonds, Common Bonds, Deeds, Writs, and Executions.”7

It was still exceedingly boring work for Goddard, who was not a lover of details or repetition. And while he had absorbed a lot about printing and the newspaper business, he didn’t have Franklin’s or Parker’s business sense or charm with customers. He was, however, much appreciated by the locals as the first print shop in Providence. At the annual meeting of the Providence Library Company in September 1763, the board voted “that Mr. William Goddard Printer in Consideration of his eminent usefulness to this Part of the Colony by introducing and carrying on amongst us the ingenious and noble Business of Printing shall have free Liberty to use the Books belonging to the Library.”8

Out of a desire to liven his work and without putting much thought into the enormity of the idea, Goddard decided to follow the lead of many printers before him (most notably Ben Franklin, who published the Pennsylvania Gazette from 1729 to 1748) and publish a newspaper. On October 20, 1762, the first Providence Gazette and County Journal rolled off the presses in Goddard’s small print shop.9 It was an instant hit. The people of Providence enjoyed hearing about events in the other twelve colonies and particularly liked getting a taste of culture and political goings-on in Europe. They especially loved the advertisements.

It was as if the classifieds gave them a glimpse into their neighbors’ secrets. Arthur Fenner is selling his 53-ton sloop; Nicholas Brown & Co. wants freight and passengers for the Four Brothers, to set sail in six days’ time for Philadelphia. John Cole is selling cordage and ship riggings; Mr. Lodowick Updike in Narragansett looks to recover a black gelding that ran off; Bennet & Nightingale want their debtors “to make speedy Payment” of their bills; John Jenks and Joseph Olney are concerned with a land development scheme in Nova Scotia.

Since the ads were the main revenue generator, Goddard published eighteen pages of advertisements and saved just two pages at the back for news and commentary. There were no editorials. Instead, for political rants, there were letters to the editor, “expression of the views of citizens on questions which concerned the state,” Goddard wrote.10 In many cases, letters to the editor were signed with pseudonyms, and often these pseudonyms were those of the paper’s publisher. Goddard, like many colonial businessmen, was becoming more and more politically inclined. Being a newspaper publisher allowed him to publicly rant (under an alias) against his favorite topic: the unbending tyranny of the British and King George III’s oppressive taxation. While it was treasonous to stand up to the Crown, the law at the time didn’t try too hard to figure out who was behind the scathing editorials, so Goddard and other early revolutionaries were mostly free to rail against British rule.

Being a printer and newspaper publisher was stable, but not very lucrative work, and Goddard had the added concern of supporting his mother and sister. Things began to look up around 1765, when the twenty-six-year-old Goddard decided to publish an almanac, something that many colonial printers were doing at the time, following Ben Franklin’s famous Poor Richard’s Almanack, which premiered in 1732 and had a twenty-five-year run. The annual publications detailing facts and statistical information about various localities had become incredibly important to the colonists. The almanac out of Goddard’s shop, New England Almanack for 1765, was the work of thirty-three-year-old mathematician and astronomer Benjamin West.11

New England Almanack was a best seller in the small town, as almost everyone saw something in it that they needed. Narragansett Bay fishermen found the times the tide would roll in and out. Sunset and sunrise were accurately listed to the latitude and were important to pretty much everyone who worked a job of any kind. To the farmers in the fields, there was the precise day spring would come, and they would no longer be subject to freezing temperatures that would kill their seedlings. For homemakers and businessmen, there were practical issues such as the post rider schedule and when circuit court judges would come to preside over local courts.

Things got even better for Goddard when he received the postmastership appointment for Providence. It was Goddard’s first position in the British postal system for the colonies. His new appointment linked him economically and logistically to New York City, Boston, and throughout the Northeast. It connected Goddard to colonial printers and newspapermen in cities along the Post Road, the artery traveled by postal riders and stagecoaches to deliver correspondence. Goddard now had undeniable influence in the community and in the larger world. This certainly appealed to Goddard’s not-so-hidden elitist tendencies.

By 1765, Britain had become more dedicated than ever to shaking down the colonies for revenue. The British Parliament passed a law called the Stamp Act that forced American printers to use special, expensive paper stamped with a royal imprint for newspapers and all other public forms and documents.12 Opposition to paying for the stamped paper erupted in the colonies with rallying cries and vehement opinion pieces in publications across the Northeast. Mail riders, who were all employees of the Crown, carried the newspapers that held the treasonous words.

Goddard, especially, went to work with a vengeance against the Stamp Act. In 1765 he wrote a Gazette column about what he felt was a killer of small businesses. The Stamp Act “renders it utterly impossible for us to pay for the large Quantities of Goods that are annually imported from Great-Britain, without reducing ourselves to the State of Slaves and Beggars.”13 The backlash from England was immediate. The British Post overcharged Goddard for postage, failed to deliver his Providence Gazette, and threatened to imprison him if he didn’t use the stamped paper.

Goddard wouldn’t be bullied. His words grew ever more venomous and erupted from him in long columns of smoky black type. While Goddard lacked business skills, he excelled at writing propaganda and rallying the troops. He was done being a subject of a corrupt and greedy king. He joined the “Sons of Liberty,” a clandestine group subversively working on plans for independence from England by communicating through coded messages from Boston to New York. Along with Goddard, Paul Revere, and other newspapermen, printers and businessmen joined the secret society.14

For the British-appointed stamp agents, things got dicey. Those riding the route between Manhattan and Boston received death threats and resigned. New York’s stamp master, James McEvers, quit after some of Goddard’s acerbic letters were reprinted in Manhattan’s New York Gazette. Britain seemed unable to control the printers and newspapermen who, like Goddard, were instigating the rebellion and meeting in secret to figure out how best to fuel it.

In October 1765, a New York Gazette reporter got wind that England was shipping its hated stamped paper to New York City under a private shipping contractor. In lower Manhattan on November 1, an angry mob burned an effigy of Cadwallader Colden, New York’s royal governor.15 Terrified, Colden refused to unpack the stamped paper. The British threw him out of office and commenced an all-out assault to shut down the dissident newspapers and stop correspondence among the rebels.

Ben Franklin, still in London, was fired in 1774 from his post as deputy postmaster general of the colonies when the Crown got wind of his growing sympathy for the rebels. Franklin rescinded his loyalty to the British and became staunchly on the side of the Revolution. Now he feared that the rebels’ lines of communication would be broken. In a letter to Boston leaders of the Sons of Liberty, he expressed his concern that their “secrets are in the hand of Government” and “our News Papers in a time of public danger may be stopped.”16

William Goddard was more furious than any of them. He believed that more than any other American printer, he was badly mistreated by the ministerial Post Office. Other Sons of Liberty were ignoring the thing he thought most important—free lines of communication for the rebels. So the fiercely independent Goddard began a one-man crusade to free the colonial mail from Britain’s grip.

Goddard knew the Post Road well; he had ridden it many times as a teenager for James Parker, and later as the Providence postmaster. That road was owned by the king and controlled by British postal riders. But Goddard had a brilliant idea. He would start a “Constitutional” mail system hiring only post riders who had no political ties or loyalty to the British. First, he needed a more strategic location and a big-city newspaper from which to print his treasonous propaganda against the British. In what would become a pattern, Goddard left his Providence shop in the very capable hands of his sister, Mary Katherine.

On January 26, 1767, Philadelphia heavy hitters Joseph Galloway and Thomas Wharton joined Goddard to launch the Pennsylvania Chronicle and Universal Advertiser Journal. Goddard announced his aim was to make the Pennsylvania Chronicle “useful, instructive and entertaining.” But that’s not all he wanted. Goddard was a rebel, and he planned to use the Chronicle, editorially, as a political mouthpiece. Still, he was a staunch believer in a free press. He opened up the “letters to the editor” section to all parties and schools of thought. He wanted the paper itself to remain neutral. The unease between Joseph Galloway and his allies, who were still supporting the Crown, and Goddard and his allies, who wrote caustic columns against parliamentary taxation, soon reached a breaking point. Goddard was, in his own words, “in the disagreeable situation of standing, as it were, a victim between two fires.”17 Soon each side was hurling allegations against the other in the pages of Goddard’s paper, and both factions were furious that Goddard wouldn’t ban one side or the other. It was not a well-liked idea, having a paper’s publisher remain neutral. On April 4, three months into publication, an agitated and indignant Goddard defended his paper’s position in a Philadelphia coffeehouse. When things got so heated by those demanding he take a stand for one side, he was forcibly thrown out. A rival publisher literally dragged him out by his hair.18

There were already six other newspapers in Pennsylvania, and the Chronicle was having a hard time getting a foothold. Goddard did not get along well with either of his partners, especially Galloway. Nevertheless, Galloway somehow managed to convince Goddard to sell the Providence Gazette and invest more of his own money in the Pennsylvania Chronicle. Goddard sent for his mother and sister to help run the day-to-day business as he went about the miserable job of trying to collect overdue subscription fees. With his mother’s and Mary Katherine’s help, business quickly began to pick up, and so did the reputation of the newspaper. In a short time, Goddard employed a team of twenty-two subscription agents working in Pennsylvania, Delaware, New Jersey, Maryland, and Virginia.19 Over the next year, Goddard, even with the continued infighting among his partners, earned a stellar reputation for having the best newspaper in the Middle Colonies.20

The success of the paper didn’t improve Goddard’s temperament, though. At heart he was prickly, agitated, and untrusting. His attitude often had a way of undoing his considerable successes and likely contributed to his one great failing to come. Only his sister, Mary Katherine, and his mother had his confidence. His suspicions bled over into his personal life as well. Goddard was thirty years old and still unmarried when in 1770, his mother, Sarah Updike Goddard, died. Once again, his finances were a mess. He found it hard to have partners or friends. He thrived on squabbles and went after his adversaries with a vengeance. He attacked Galloway with brutal character assassinations published in various colonial newspapers. He called his partner “hot tempered and of choleric disposition.” He tried to keep abreast of his business affairs, but his complete obsession for planning a revolution against England took most of his time.

In September 1771, after lengthy lawsuits against him by Galloway and his second partner, Thomas Wharton, Goddard landed in debtor’s prison in the Philadelphia jail. If Galloway was hoping that would put an end to Goddard’s revolutionary rhetoric and constant public attacks on his reputation, he was wrong. Signing himself “A Friend to Liberty,” on September 23, 1771, Goddard had someone in the shop, likely his sister, publish a column attacking Galloway. “Even the worst of men have some pangs of conscience over their misdeeds. What then must be the feelings of one who has tried to destroy the liberty of his country . . . then a GALLOWAY, asserting the cause of slavery, reviling American honor, treacherously undermining the capital pillars of the Constitution of his NATIVE COUNTRY, and slandering one of her ablest Advocates?”

Goddard received a lot of support from those who believed he was unfairly targeted by the Pennsylvania Assembly, where Galloway held a high position. Emboldened by this public encouragement, Goddard busied himself in the Philadelphia jail, writing copy for the weekly Chronicle and railing against his enemies on two continents. With Mary Katherine in charge of the shop (even while creditors were trying to liquidate Goddard’s assets), he did not need to worry about the Chronicle meeting its printing schedule. Finally, with the help of friends, Goddard partially paid off his debts to Galloway and Wharton. On October 14, 1771, Goddard announced his own release from jail in the Chronicle:

The Printer of this Paper, impressed by the most lively Sentiments of Gratitude, takes a sincere Pleasure, on this Occasion, of returning his warmest Acknowledgments to a Number of respectable Citizens, who, on the first Notice of the relentless Severity of Messrs. Galloway and Wharton, his former Partners in the Printing Business, generously united and made him a Loan of Money sufficient to extricate him from the Iron Hand of Oppression. He now enjoys the Sweets of Liberty, and is enabled, by the Generosity of some Friends, to continue in Business, in which his utmost Endeavors shall ever be exerted to give all possible Satisfaction to the Public, and show himself not altogether unworthy of the Favours he has received.

He signed the column “A Friend to Liberty not confined in the Common Jail, under Executions for Debts.”

Being locked up in the Philadelphia jail and battling business partners did nothing to quash Goddard’s appetite for rebellion against the Crown. He penned prolific anti-British propaganda under a variety of pseudonyms in the Pennsylvania Chronicle. He had a fair amount of success but was desperate to expand his influence further into the colonies. To do so, Goddard started the Maryland Journal & Baltimore Advertiser in the summer of 1773.21 The Journal was the only newspaper in Maryland at the time, and to make sure that it ran like clockwork, Goddard put his highly competent sister, Mary Katherine, at the helm. “The MARYLAND JOURNAL will, positively be published, regularly, every Thursday Morning,” the first edition proclaimed on Friday, August 20. “Then our Customers will have the earliest Intelligence from the Northward, before they could possibly obtain it by any other Mode of Conveyance.”

After three months and twelve Journal editions, subscribers had signed on from all over the mid-Atlantic colonies and south to Virginia. Still, Goddard was exceedingly anxious and irritable. The British postal service was sabotaging both his new paper and his well-established Pennsylvania Chronicle. His papers were late to their destinations and sometimes didn’t arrive at all. Subscribers who didn’t get their copies didn’t pay subscription fees, and the British Post was charging Goddard double the rate for normal postage. Most anything that came to his shop through the mail had clearly been opened and rifled through. Another problem was that news and correspondence from north and south didn’t make it to his print shops on time or at all, so other papers scooped him. For Goddard, making sure his newspaper was delivered was vital to the independence of the colonies, so the determined printer came up with an idea.

In fall 1773, Goddard added a line item to his newspaper’s budget: “a full-time post rider, solely dedicated to carrying the post to and from his Baltimore and Philadelphia shops.” On November 27, Mary Katherine set the type for a help-wanted ad to run in both papers. “The PENNSYLVANIA CHRONICLE . . . will, by the Establishment of a new Northern Post, be able to visit its old Friends in this Province, from whom it hath, for some Time, been cut off by an arbitrary Decree of a malicious Postrider, late a Hostler in the Service of one of the Postmasters General.”

Goddard suspected that it was Deputy Postmaster General Benjamin Franklin who was causing him such consternation by ordering the British Post to overcharge him and slow the delivery of Goddard’s newspapers. Franklin was a close friend of Goddard’s former business partner Joseph Galloway. At the start, Franklin loaned the Pennsylvania Chronicle money and a printing press, making him a sort of silent partner. Within its pages, Franklin penned many letters for the Chronicle railing against the unfair taxes on the colonies.22 Franklin, though, soured on Goddard after Goddard repeatedly attacked Galloway in the letters to the editors of the Chronicle.23 Always the pragmatist, Franklin did not like Goddard’s modus operandi in business or politics. The feeling was mutual. Although Franklin had gained a stellar reputation among most members of the Sons of Liberty, Goddard felt that anyone who wasn’t 100 percent on the side of the patriots from the beginning was a traitor to the cause of liberty and justice.

With Goddard’s own post riders, the Maryland Journal took off. He became obsessed with the newfound power of having his own logistics force. Goddard knew that Committees of Correspondence, which began in the mid-1700s, worked exceedingly well to bypass the British during the tumult brought about by the Stamp Act. Riders would meet along the Post Road and pass along secret messages. Why not expand that clandestine system to all colonial correspondence?

To free himself from the daily grind of printing and newspaper publishing to pursue his goal, Goddard shut down the Pennsylvania Chronicle and left Mary Katherine in charge of the Maryland Journal. Goddard knew that his sister, although a talented and exceptional businesswoman, could not run both papers and the affairs of two print shops by herself. Goddard set the type on the last issue of the Pennsylvania Chronicle on February 8, 1774, with a teaser:

. . . a Matter I have engaged in, of a very interesting Nature to the common Liberties of all America, as well as to myself, as the Printer of a Public Paper, is brought nearer to a Conclusion.

Mary Katherine announced that she would conduct the newspaper and printing business during her brother’s coming absence. Goddard set up an office for his post in the London Coffee House, a meeting space built by Philadelphia merchants on the corner of Front and Market Streets.24 Then, with great optimism and excitement, he set off along the Post Road. He had a well-formulated plan, and he practiced his sales pitch along the way. His strategy already worked on a small scale, not only delivering his newspapers with his own post riders, but subsidizing his costs by contracting out his employees to others blockaded and overcharged by the Crown. His ultimate plan would go far beyond newspaper deliveries. He was setting out to create what he called the Constitutional Post, a completely new postal system free from British control.25

What Goddard lacked in charm and business skills, he made up for in logistical genius and tireless lobbying efforts. He first stopped in Manhattan, where he met with the New York Sons of Liberty, among them Alexander McDougal, a merchant seaman who knew Goddard’s history of strong resistance to the Crown. McDougal and the other New York Sons of Liberty were supportive of the idea, but not yet ready to commit. The act in itself was treasonous, punishable by hanging. And while this was the group to sign on if anyone would, they also had their own ideas on how best to free themselves from the British.

Goddard traveled along to Providence, the hometown of his first newspaper, where he met John Brown, a revolutionary who led the burning of a British Customs boat in 1772. Brown’s hatred for the Crown matched Goddard’s, and he knew and trusted Goddard from the days of the Providence Gazette. He was quick to give Goddard’s plan his stamp of approval.

Goddard drummed up support in New Haven, New London, and Newport, where businessmen, printers especially, were anxious to have a safe means of distribution for their correspondence, newspapers, and pamphlets, especially those subversive and treasonous messages and propaganda. Goddard was invigorated, and he was not alone. Printers all around the colonies were beginning to feel very powerful. Words on paper were a formidable tonic. Rows of black type got people’s attention, gave people courage against oppression, and deepened their belief that they were being unfairly treated by King George. And because all of the seventy-two colonial printers felt attacked by the Stamp Act, they began to ban together in their darkened print shops, not only printing but plotting a revolution. In 1941, historian Lawrence Wroth wrote eloquently of the “harassed individual with ink-stained fingers, half craftsman, half man of letters, who in dim and cluttered shops in all the considerable towns of the continent was fighting the battles of the Nation long before most of his fellow citizens realized that a war was in progress or that a Nation was being born.”26

On Monday, March 14, 1774, an exhausted William Goddard arrived on horseback in Boston. He met with Samuel Adams, Paul Revere, and Benjamin Edes, the printer and publisher of the Boston Gazette, who, like Goddard, riled up the colonists against the British in his newspaper’s columns. All three were excited about Goddard’s plan. When Revere wrote to the New York Sons of Liberty on Goddard’s behalf, he called the Constitutional Post “one of the greatest strokes our Enemies have met with (except the late affairs of the Tea).”27

It seemed like a go, but there was one hitch. In the back of his mind, Goddard knew that most of his treasonous contemporaries had some concern about his Constitutional Post, and all of them for the same reason. By then, the Sons of Liberty knew Ben Franklin was leaning toward alliance with the rebels. From London, Franklin had secretly forwarded communications between Massachusetts governor Thomas Hutchinson and the British Parliament—to the Sons of Liberty in Massachusetts.28 In the letters, Hutchinson asked the Crown to send troops to crush the rising rebellion. Unknown to Goddard and others anxious to implement Goddard’s colossal scheme, the British had found out and fired Franklin on January 31, six weeks earlier, for the “Pernicious Activity” of passing the Hutchinson letters to the colonists.29 But none of this was yet known to Goddard and his contemporaries. Creating a new post to bypass the British system would definitely hurt Franklin’s standing with the British Parliament. No one wanted to jeopardize the powerful Franklin’s position or make an enemy out of someone they desperately needed to be on their side.

Revere’s letter to the Sons of Liberty in New York on Goddard’s behalf finished with the caveat “We are informed the Patriotic Doctor Franklin is severely threatened with the loss of that Place [deputy postmaster general] under the British Minister. Many of the Patrons of this new Scheme were much concerned lest it should appear ungrateful to Doctor Franklin, especially at a Period when he has given such signal Proof of faithfulness to his Trust, in obtaining and sending over the treasonable Letters of Hutchinson. But perhaps the new Post-Office may be beneficial and more agreeable to the Doctor than ever was the old one.”

Goddard was full of confidence and completely sure that his plan would be successful, regardless of Franklin’s fate. He wrote to John Lamb, a leader of the Sons of Liberty in New York, about his meetings with Revere, Adams, and others in Boston. “I have not Terms to convey to you the Sentiments I entertain of their Magnanimity, Wisdom, Patriotism & Urbanity.” Goddard knew that Lamb, the son of a convicted thief, was especially fearless. He was a successful wine merchant and optician and was one of the most aggressive of the New York revolutionaries. Goddard tried to hook Lamb by his ego and encourage the New York rebels to get the ball rolling before their Boston counterparts. If New York would sign on, Goddard offered, the city would have “the Glory of originating one of the greatest Plans that, as they say, was ever engaged in since the Settlement of this Country.” If it seemed a little overblown, it wasn’t. Goddard was absolutely certain that an independent post would be the most important lifeline in the coming revolution.

On March 17, an editorial by Goddard’s Boston supporters appeared in colonial newspapers:

Boston, March 17. Last Monday arrived here Mr. William Goddard, Printer in Philadelphia, and Baltimore. The Cause of that Gentleman’s Tour is interesting to all the Colonies, and we are happy to find that all of them through which he has come are thoroughly engaged in it. Mr. Goddard has long been noted as the Proprietor and Employer of a very FREE PRESS, and some four or five Years ago he began to feel himself distinguished on that Account, till at length the Exactions of the King’s Post Rider became so enormous that they amounted to an entire Prohibition of the Continuance of his Business in the City of Philadelphia. Maryland, a great Part of Virginia, Pennsylvania and the Jersies, through which his Paper had circulated, became inflamed at the Insult; especially when it was known that Mr. Goddard had complained to the Postmaster, that sole Arbiter in this Case, and could not obtain the Shadow of a Redress. Nearly the whole Town of Baltimore, the first Merchants and Gentlemen in Philadelphia, assisted Mr. Goddard in establishing a Rider between those two Capitals, and have recommended the Plan to all the Colonies. Mr. Goddard has received the greatest Encouragement from every Colony through which he has passed, and all declare their Readiness to come into the Measure, provided it is adopted here.30

News finally arrived in the colonies that Franklin had been fired as joint postmaster general by the British secretary of the Post Office. The position in the colonies was now solely held by Franklin’s joint postmaster general, John Foxcroft, a fierce loyalist. Foxcroft was a relative of Franklin’s wife, and now had the mission to single-handedly keep the British postal system afloat in the colonies. Without Franklin, it was a daunting task. Foxcroft despised William Goddard, and when he got wind of Goddard’s plan for a Constitutional Post, he went after him with a vengeance.

On April 5, 1774, John Foxcroft wrote to his superior in London, Anthony Todd, secretary of the British Post Office. He pointed out that Goddard’s undertaking was illegal under British law, and that he had already consulted New York Colony’s attorney general. “It will be best to commence a prosecution against Goddard as soon as sufficient proof can be had against him . . . he is only supported by a Set of licentious people of desperate Fortunes whose sole Consequence, nay even Dependence, is on their fishing in troubled Waters; Men of property both in and out of Trade hold him and his Scheme in the greatest Contempt and Abhorrence, as tending to disturb the public peace and Tranquility of America.”31

Goddard knew Foxcroft was after him, but he was undeterred. Brimming with excitement and confidence, having more friends and supporters than he’d ever had in his life, the thirty-four-year-old printer wrote an article for the Maryland Journal on July 16, 1774. He cited Ben Franklin’s firing by the British Parliament, now a well-known scandal in the colonies, as a rallying point for his Constitutional Post. The American people, “since the infamous Dismission of the worthy Dr. Franklin, and the hostile attack on the Town and Port of Boston, are unalterably determined to support a new constitutional Post Office on the ruins of one that hath for its Basis the slavery of America.”32

Just over a week later in late July, Goddard mounted his trusted horse and rode down to Williamsburg, Virginia, to gain support for his plan from the South. Again, he found an easy sell to those who were already on the side of rebellion against England. The Williamsburg Committee of Correspondence members even recommended that the Continental Congress take over the Constitutional Post Office.33 To Goddard, it seemed like the perfect way to take his upstart idea colonywide.

Goddard went back home to Baltimore to continue publicizing his plan with the general public. Many average citizens were now aware of it, thanks to a concerted effort by the rebel printers and others who wrote pamphlets on the wicked ways of England. Goddard kept up the assault on the Crown and called for a new postal system that would work far better than the corrupt, slow, and tyrannical British Colonial Post. His plan, he wrote, would save colonists from the “present American Post Office, ministerial in its creation, direction and dependence, which not only was tampering with private correspondence, but as well, was interfering with the circulation of our News-Papers, those necessary and important alarms in Times of public Danger.” 34

Although Goddard had solid written and oral support from his fellow revolutionaries, the majority of the work landed on his shoulders and was financed out of his own pocket. He likely engaged his sister, Mary Katherine, who shared his goal of American independence and was earning money at the Baltimore print shop to fund her brother’s mission.

Those who doubted that Goddard could succeed in coordinating such a scheme were quite impressed when they learned that on December 31, 1773, the Maryland Journal published news of the Boston Tea Party, just two weeks after the riot in the Boston Harbor. The news had come straight from New York carried by Goddard’s own post rider, one Mr. Butler. It was an impressive journalistic and logistical coup that New York and Baltimore were nearly on the same page in learning news of the insurrection.

In January 1775, Goddard traveled through the colonies again in efforts to expand and strengthen his system. He was spending money as fast as Mary Katherine made it and borrowing from friends to pay the riders and other logistical expenses. Still, he had no intention of slowing down. Then one night after meetings in Philadelphia, Goddard’s past caught up with him. He was thrown in the city jail for debts he still owed Galloway.35 He spent his days in a freezing cell writing caustic demands to the Pennsylvania Assembly to release him. He had no money to pay off Galloway, so he was forced into a kind of bankruptcy by the Assembly. On March 18, 1775, a legislator passed a bill for his release.

A month later, on April 19, 1775, the desperate need for secure lines of communication became clear to the Sons of Liberty and all rebel leaders in the American colonies. That morning, British forces arrived in Concord, Massachusetts, to disarm rebel militias outside Boston. Instead, they encountered an armed force in Lexington, and the first shots of the Revolution were fired. A rebel express rider left Watertown, Massachusetts, the same day and traveled the Post Road toward New York with word of the fighting. In each town along the way, Committees of Correspondence signed off after receiving the news. Secure communication was now an absolute necessity.

On May 29, 1775, the Continental Congress appointed a committee of delegates to organize an independent post. There were six members chosen, including the committee chair, Benjamin Franklin, who was now fully aligned with the patriots. “The present critical situation of the colonies renders it highly necessary that ways and means should be devised for the speedy and secure conveyance of Intelligence from one end of the Continent to the other,” the Congress ordered the committee.36

Goddard was thrilled. There was no other scheme so well thought out as his. There could be no way for the committee to deny him the realization of his perfectly laid-out plan. He was nearly certain he would soon preside over an institution he’d poured his life and livelihood into for the past two years. The choice of committee members, however, left Goddard with some trepidation. Only Sam Adams and Ben Franklin knew the great logistical feat that he’d pulled off. Thomas Lynch from South Carolina was an unknown to him. It’s unclear whether Goddard had a relationship with the other three delegates, Richard Henry Lee, from Virginia, or Thomas Willing and Philip Livingston from New York.

Led by the ultra-pragmatic Ben Franklin, the six members deliberated. A week went by, then two. Goddard heard nothing. He knew that Franklin knew the ins and outs of the British postal system better than anyone. Would Franklin come up with some sort of replacement based on the British system? Goddard nearly crawled out of his skin in anticipation. To better his chances, Goddard lobbied hard to the committee members, delineating his successes in transmitting secure and subversive correspondence across colonies. He told of his successful efforts from Rhode Island to Virginia. He reminded the members of his tremendous outlay of time and money.37

Finally, on July 25, the committee was ready to deliver its report to the Congress. Goddard’s Constitutional Post would be adopted as the post of the colonies. Goddard, sitting in the Philadelphia State House, must have been ecstatic. All that was needed now was for Congress to vote to ratify the committee’s recommendation. The next morning, Goddard went to Independence Hall and watched the deliberations of the Continental Congress, anticipating that if they adopted his plan they would surely name him as the top boss.

“Agreeable to the order of yesterday,” the speaker began, “the Congress resumed the consideration of the report of the Committee on the post office; which being debated by paragraphs, was agreed to as follows: That a postmaster General be appointed for the United Colonies, who shall hold his office at Philadelphia, and shall be allowed a salary of 1000 dollars per year for himself, and 340 dollars per year for a secretary and Comptroller, with power to appoint such, and so many deputies as to him may seem proper and necessary.

That a line of posts be appointed under the direction of the Postmaster general, from Falmouth in New England to Savannah in Georgia, with as many cross posts as he shall think fit. That the allowance to the deputies in lieu of salary and all contingent expences [sic], shall be 20 per cent on the sums they collect and pay into the General post office annually, when the whole is under or not exceeding 1000 Dollars, and ten per cent for all sums above 1000 dollars a year.

That the rates of postage shall be 20 percent less than those appointed by act of Parliament. . . . That it be left to the postmaster general to appoint a secretary and comptroller.”38

It was almost entirely Goddard’s plan, with a few minor tweaks that he probably would have made anyway. The job of postmaster would pay him well. He could make back the money he had spent, pay off those he’d borrowed from, and finally live well. The miles and long days and sleepless nights, the tired horses, the lobbying, the articles and letters and out-of-pocket financing—it was all worth it. It must have felt too good to be true.

And it was.

A moment after the Speaker read the new Post Office guidelines, the entire Congress proceeded to elect the first postmaster general: Benjamin Franklin.

The sixty-nine-year-old Benjamin Franklin, new to join the Sons of Liberty against the evil English empire, was unanimously elected as the first postmaster general of the new American Post Office. Goddard was beyond furious. His heart and soul had gone into building the institution. It was snatched away in a single heartbeat. To add insult to injury, Franklin immediately appointed Richard Bache, his thirty-eight-year-old son-in-law, to the second-in-command position: secretary and comptroller. Finally, Franklin offered a stunned William Goddard the job of surveyor general.39 It was an insult of the most egregious nature. The job was a consolation prize at best. The position meant that he would have to continue nonstop travel year-round setting up post offices around the colonies and investigating corruption in the service rather than run the whole show from its Philadelphia headquarters as he had expected to do. He’d make a paltry income rather than the generous salary of the postmaster general. On top of that, there was no stipulation in the statute to reimburse Goddard for his considerable expenses setting up the Constitutional Post. For a moment, Goddard thought of declining the offer, but he had no job, was in debt, and was desperately hopeful that he would be Franklin’s successor when the old man retired. He swallowed his pride and agreed. At least he would be working on the plan he had created, even if he was subservient to Franklin, whom he tried his best not to outwardly despise.

Franklin drew up a pass that allowed Goddard to travel through the colonies and establish post offices and appoint postmasters and post riders. Under different circumstances, Goddard might have loved the work, but he struggled to find fulfillment as he rode endless miles through big cities and tiny hamlets. There was little pushback by the colonists. By now the British Post was falling apart and nearly everyone wanted a post office near their home. Anyway, there would soon be no choice but to use the new Constitutional Post to send and receive packages and correspondence. In December 1775, the Maryland Assembly forbade the Parliamentary Post to go through the colony, effectively ending the British postal system on Christmas Day.

Over the following months as surveyor general, Goddard added post office after post office and expanded the network beyond anything the British had ever done. He investigated fraud within the Post Office ranks and fired those abusing the new American mail system. He went after crooks who stole money and property from the mail carriers and post offices and had the criminals arrested by local sheriffs and constables.

All the while, a revolution began. General George Washington commanded the Continental Army, and battles erupted from Virginia to Canada. Goddard did not encounter fighting in his travels, and he was very good at his work. But he was not happy. He was still reeling from the pain of being passed over as postmaster, and he was still in debt.

After fulfilling his year-long contract, on June 30, 1776, just four days before the signing of the Declaration of Independence, William Goddard went to Congress and, with a long and blustery oration, petitioned the Board of War for a new appointment:

To the Honourable Commissioners or Delegates from the several AMERICAN States, now sitting in General Congress in the City of PHILADELPHIA:

The Memorial of WILLIAM GODDARD most respectfully showeth:

That the intolerable severity of Ministerial oppression having exposed to innumerable hardships your Memorialist, and other Printers who manifested their zeal in defence of the invaded rights of America, and the iron hand of tyranny, having, by means of the Parliamentary Post-Office, pressed upon him more heavily, perhaps, than upon any other—his own sufferings and an ardent desire of serving his country prompted him to devise a plan for the total abolition of that engine of Ministerial extortion, fraud and revenge, by substituting for it a Post-Office on constitutional principles.

His undertaking was countenanced by all the friends of American freedom, several of whom contributed largely towards raising a fund sufficient to prosecute his plan, which the artificers used by the tools of despotism to discourage it rendered more expensive than it might otherwise have been. He was, however, very near reaping the fruits of his labour, and reimbursing his friends, when your most honourable House appointed one of your colleagues to superintend that important department under your direction; but the worthy officer intrusted with it not having been authorized to indemnify your Memorialist or his friends for the expense incurred by establishing Postmasters, hiring riders, and bringing the temporary establishment, in all its parts, to that state where your officer found it when it was resigned with all those advantages, a great loss is sustained by your Memorialist, as well as the persons who were more intimately connected with him in that voluntary service of the publick.
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